

The Alaska Entomological Society

CONSTITUTION & BY-LAWS

PREAMBLE:

The organization shall be known as: The Alaska Entomological Society. As a nonprofit, educational organization, its purpose is to promote interest in the science of Entomology in Alaska and the circumpolar north.

Article 1 – Title

1. The society shall be known as The Alaska Entomological Society.

Article 2 – Object

2. The object of the society shall be:
 - (a) Promote and support the study and appreciation of entomology in Alaska,
 - (b) Provide a forum for those interested in the study of entomology in Alaska,
 - (c) Disseminate scientific information on entomology in Alaska,
 - (d) Promote professional and social interaction among the general membership, and
 - (e) Achieve closer cooperation and understanding among members so that they may work together in the common cause of furthering the appreciation and knowledge concerning entomology in Alaska.

The Alaska Entomological Society will not carry on the following kinds of activities: lobbying, intervention in political campaigns, excessive compensation to individuals or the operation of a business as a primary activity.

Article 3 – Membership

3. (a) Any person interested in entomology in Alaska may become a member by submitting a completed membership application form and membership fee payments to the Secretary of the society or online at <http://www.akentsoc.org/>. All memberships are for the calendar year.
 - (b) Membership fee in the society shall be determined, and may be revised from time to time, by the members at a general meeting.

(c) If any member is in arrears for fees or assessments for any year, the member shall be automatically suspended at the end of that year and shall thereafter be entitled to no membership privileges or powers in the society until reinstated.

(d) Any member wishing to withdraw from the society may do so by giving notice in writing to the Secretary.

(e) Any member may be expelled from membership for any cause which the society may deem reasonable. Expulsion can only be done by passing a special resolution at a meeting.

(f) Honorary Life Membership may be bestowed for unusual service or extraordinary contributions to the Alaska Entomological Society, or to the study or preservation of the insect fauna of Alaska. Honorary Life Membership will entitle the recipient to all the privileges of regular membership, but Honorary Life Members shall be exempt from payment of dues. Election to Honorary Life Membership will occur upon unanimous recommendation of the officers of the society and subsequent approval by two-thirds of the members present and voting at the regular annual business meeting of the society.

(g) Regular membership shall be granted for one year to any person, organization, or other entity who desire membership in the society and has paid for one year at the regular membership fee rate.

(h) Student / Early Professional membership shall be granted for one year to any person who is a student or was a student within the last two years and has paid for one year at the student / early professional membership fee rate. *

* To qualify for a Student membership, a student must be currently attending classes at least 1/2 time at some point during the membership year (i.e. if the calendar year is started as a student and the student subsequently graduates, student membership will continue for the duration of that calendar year and can be renewed the following year as an Early Professional member). AKES realizes that when students graduate, it can take some time for them to establish themselves financially. In recognition of this, AKES offers a transition dues structure for students that have graduated. Once a Student member graduates, they are eligible to maintain membership as a Student / Early Professional member for two additional years at a discount of 50% off regular member dues.

Article 4 – Board of Directors

4. (a) The Board of Directors of the society shall consist of the President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer and one or more Directors.

(b) The Board shall, subject to the by-laws or directions given it by majority vote at any general meeting, have full control and management of the affairs of the society. This includes the power to appoint committees as necessary.

(c) Expenditures and financial transactions made by the Board shall be subject to subsequent ratification at the next general meeting by the majority of the members present.

Article 5 – Duties of Officers

5. (a) The President shall be ex-officio a member of all committees and shall, when present, set the agenda and preside at all meetings of the society and of the Board.

(b) The Vice-President shall in the absence of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President and may also be called upon by the Board to perform other duties.

(c) The Secretary shall

- (1) attend all meetings of the society and of the Board, and keep accurate minute books of them,
- (2) have charge of all correspondence of the society, except for correspondence pertaining to memberships,
- (3) keep a record of all the members of the society and their addresses
- (4) provide and maintain a contact address for the society, and
- (5) send all notices of the various meetings as required.

The Secretary is under the direction of the President and the Board. In case of the absence of the Secretary, the Secretary's duties shall be performed by another officer as directed by the Board.

(d) The Treasurer shall

- (1) receive all monies paid to the society and be responsible for the deposit of those monies in whatever bank, trust company, credit union or treasury branch the Board may order,
- (2) collect annual dues,
- (3) carry out all correspondence relating to memberships and dues,
- (4) properly account for the funds of the society and keep such books as may be directed,
- (5) present a full detailed account of receipts and disbursements to the Board whenever requested,
- (6) prepare for submission to the annual general meeting an audited financial statement for the society, and

- (7) submit a copy of the financial statement to the Secretary for the records of the society.

The Treasurer is under the direction of the President and the Board.

(e) The office of the Secretary and Treasurer may be filled by the same person if the society so chooses.

(f) Directors have full voting status at Board meetings, and may be called upon to perform other duties by the Board.

Article 6 – Election of Officers

6. (a) The President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer and one or more Directors are to be elected at each annual general meeting. Officers so elected shall take office at the beginning of the calendar year and remain in office for a term of one year.

(b) Any member at least 18 years of age and in good standing shall be eligible to occupy any office in the society, or submit nominations for any office.

(c) A person appointed or elected an officer becomes an officer if that person was present at the meeting when being appointed or elected and did not refuse the appointment. A person may also become an officer if that person was not present at the meeting but consented in writing to act as officer before the appointment or election, or within ten days after the appointment or election.

(d) Officers may be re-elected as many times as the society sees fit, but the office of the President shall not normally be held by the same person for more than three consecutive terms.

(e) Any director or officer may be removed from office for any cause which the society considers reasonable on the passing of a special resolution at a general meeting.

(f) Any Board vacancy occurring during the year shall be filled by appointment by the President, with the concurrence of the Board.

Article 7 – Board Meetings

7. (a) Meetings of the Board shall be held as often as may be required, but at least once every year, and shall be called by the President.

(b) A special Board meeting may be called on the instructions of any two Board members if they request the President to call such a meeting, and state the business to be brought before the meeting.

(c) Meetings of the Board shall be called by sending notice to each member by mail, electronic mail, fax, or telephone, at least 14 days in advance of the meeting.

(d) Any four Board members shall constitute a quorum, and meetings shall be held without notice if a quorum of the Board is present, but any business transactions approved at such a meeting shall be ratified at the next regularly called Board meeting, otherwise they shall be null and void.

Article 8 – General Meetings

8. (a) The Society shall hold an annual general meeting on or before December 31 in each year.

(b) An annual general meeting shall be called by the President or the Board sending notice to each member in good standing, by mail, electronic mail, fax, or telephone, delivered as early as possible before the meeting, but at least 30 days in advance of the meeting.

(c) Special general meetings of the society may be called at any time by the President or the Board by sending notice to each member in good standing, by mail, electronic mail, fax, or telephone, delivered at least 21 days in advance of the meeting.

(d) A special general meeting shall be called by the President or Secretary upon receipt of a petition signed by one-third of the members in good standing, setting forth the reasons for calling such a meeting, which shall be called by sending notice by mail, electronic mail, fax or telephone to the last known address of each member in good standing, delivered at least 21 days prior to the date of such meeting.

(e) One quarter of the members in good standing shall constitute a quorum at any general meeting.

Article 9 – Voting

9. (a) Any non-junior member who has not withdrawn from membership and has not been suspended nor expelled shall have the right to vote at any general meeting of the Society.

(b) Votes may be made in person or absentee ballot with advance arrangement, including special resolutions.

(c) A “special resolution” means

(1) A resolution passed

- (i) at a general meeting of which not less than 21 days’ notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution has been duly given, and
- (ii) by the vote of not less than 75% of those members who, if entitled to do so, vote in person or by proxy,

(2) A resolution proposed and passed as a special resolution at a general meeting of which less than 21 days’ notice has been given, if all the members entitled to attend and vote at the general meeting so agree, or

(3) A resolution consented to in writing or absentee ballot by all the members who would have been entitled at a general meeting to vote on the resolution in person.

Article 10 – Signing Authority

10. The signing officers of the Society shall be the Treasurer and the President. The society shall not have a seal.

Article 11 – Auditing

11. (a) The books, accounts and records of the Treasurer shall be audited at least once each year by two members of the society elected for that purpose at the annual general meeting, or by a duly qualified accountant.

(b) A complete and proper statement of the standing of the books for the previous year shall be submitted by the Treasurer at the next annual general meeting of the society.

(c) A fiscal year of the society shall be a calendar year.

(d) The books and records of the society may be inspected by any member of the society at an annual general meeting or at any time upon giving reasonable notice and arranging a time satisfactory to the officer or officers having charge of those books and records. Each member of the Board shall at all times have access to those books and records.

Article 12 – Remuneration

12. Unless authorized by special resolution, no officer or member of the society shall receive any remuneration for any services rendered to the society.

Article 13 – Borrowing Powers

13. For the purpose of carrying out its object, the society may borrow or raise or secure the payment of money in such manner as it sees fit, and in particular by the issue of debentures, but this power shall be exercised only under the authority of the society, and in no case shall debentures be issued without the sanction of a special resolution of the society.

Article 14 – Alteration of the By-Laws

14. The By-laws may be amended or replaced only by a special resolution of the society.

Article 15 – Dissolution

15. In the event of and upon dissolution of the Alaska Entomological Society, the Board shall distribute cash assets and other holdings to other organizations as determined by the membership, provided that the recipient(s) shall have goals and purposes compatible with those of the Alaska Entomological Society.